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The Life and Times of Paramartha
(499-569)

by Diana Y. Paul

An implicit principle of selection is operative in any biography. In
religious biographies or hagiographies, the selection of biographi-
cal facts is especially critical to the emerging image of the religious
personality.' In the case of the Kao seng chuan (KSC)? (Biographies
of Eminent Monks) we have simultaneously the tendency to select
common human experiences that indicate Buddhist monks are
ordinary men with shared emotions, ambitions, and weaknesses;
and the tendency to select events that characterize monks as
uniquely religious, that is, spiritually eminent. In other words, the
KSC and its sequel, the Hsii kao seng chuan (HKSC) (Continued
Biographies of Eminent Monks) chronicle the lives of those who are
recognized to have exemplified the religious ideals of the Chinese
Buddhist monastic community in the most favorable manner. Par-
amartha’'s own biography portrays a saintly scholarly figure
against the background of the emotionally and politically turbu-
lent events of the sixth century.

During this period marking the close of the North-South Dy-
nastic Period in China, philosophical schools of Buddhism
emerged and flourished in the wake of Indian missionary-monks
who had gained economic support from different Chinese courts.
Naturally, when the imperial hegemony was a stable one, produc-
tivity in translation work and major recognition of scholarship was
far more marked than in troubled periods of political and social
upheaval. The most significant translations and scholarship were
usually effected only when there was financial patronage from
highly influential state officials.

It is essential to remember that Buddhist “schools” in China
were not educational institutions established in terms of organiza-
tional hierarchies and codified dogma regarded as absolute doctri-
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nal authority. The historical, political, geographical and economic
realities of the time were critical to the survival of any scholastic
endeavor, religious or secular. In the period at the end of the
North-South Dynasties, in particular, it is especially important to
investigate the personality and influence of the great Indian mas-
ters who served as the teachers and translators of innovative reli-
gious doctrines to their coteries of Chinese Buddhist disciples.
These Indian Buddhist pioneers were not content to translate the
scriptural texts solely for scholastic purposes. They were interest-
ed in interpreting texts in a way that would allow their Chinese
followers to analyze their work by writing their own commen-
taries, thereby transforming Buddhism into a culturally acceptable
religion. These Indian Buddhist monks also had to adjust to the
political and economic challenges of the time.

It was during the chaotic times of the Liang and Ch’en Dynas-
ties that Paramartha introduced the philosophical ideas of Yoga-
cara Buddhism to the Chinese elite in the south. Paramartha was
an Indian Buddhist monk and the first to introduce and dissemi-
nate, to any great extent, Yogacarin philosophical and religious
tenets to China, in the Kwangsi and Kwangtung provinces of the
south. This marked the beginning of a period of active interpreta-
tion and discussion of some of the most significant texts of the
Yogacarin or “Consciousness-Only” tradition. Paramartha was
recognized as a major philosopher and exegete of Yogacara Bud-
dhism, exerting considerable influence on the development of
Chinese Buddhist thought, from the Liang Dynasty up through
the middle of the T"ang. By providing a systematic and represen-
tative collection of core texts for his loyal followers, Paramartha
enabled Chinese Buddhist monks to prepare the foundation for
the classical T"ang Buddhist schools: Hua-yen, whose most notable
proponents were Fa-tsang (643-712) and Chih-yen (602-668);
and Fa-hsiang, whose primary proponents were Hsiian-tsang
(600-664) and his disciple, K'uei-chi (632-682), also known as
Tzu-en.

Largely due to Paramartha’s extensive translations and exe-
geses, Yogacara Buddhism was to atfect Chinese thought for over
three hundred years. Not only Ch’an and Hua-yen Buddhists but
also the later neo-Confucians owed a considerable debt to Para-
martha’s systematic thought. His works were to be the turning
point in a long-standing debate among Buddhist scholars concern-
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ing the phenomenology of mind and the essential character of
human nature. He devoted his writings to analyzing the structures
of conscious acts and their relationship to spiritual enlightenment.
If human nature is intrinsically good and destined for enlighten-
ment, he asked, why do human beings refuse to believe and act
like the enlightened beings they fundamentally are? This ques-
ton, lying at the heart of Mahdyana, is the focus of all of Para-
martha’s major tracts of writing.

While Paramartha was living, his works were subjected to the
vicissitudes of the times, ranging from a period of eminence and
recognition of his brilliant and innovative analyses of Buddhist
doctrine to periods of sporadic but intense persecution. A prelimi-
nary investigation of the personality and political life of Para-
martha will assist in understanding his place in the history of the
evolution of Buddhist thought. He was a religious and philosophi-
cal teacher of theretofore unknown Buddhist theories. He was a
political survivor who, though ostracized for the views he both
cherished and had hoped to disseminate, managed to continue his
writings—despite jealous Buddhist court monks who plotted his
banishment from the central sphere of political and religious in-
fluence and a lack of highly placed patrons that more economical-
ly stable times would have certainly provided.

The specifically religious dimension of Paramartha’s life, in
accordance with the overall hagiographical intent of the HKSC, is
brought out in sharp relief from the sparse historical details of his
life before his arrival in China. First, I will attempt a brief recon-
struction of the political and religious context of sixth-century
India and its colony Funan, where Paramartha resided for some
time. Then I will summarize the political and economic unrest in
southern China on the eve of Paramartha’s sojourn to Canton,
before discussing in detail the biography of Paramartha.

The Historical Background of India and Funan

Paramartha was born in A.D. 499, approximately a hundred
and fifty years after the Yogacarin philosopher Vasubandhu, the
single Buddhist most influential on Paramartha’s intellectual de-
velopment. At that time the city of Ujjain was no longer part of the
Gupta empire. The collapse of the Gupta empire would occur in
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the mid-sixth century, but the glory of the empire had faded
greatly as the Central Asian tribe, the Hinas, had invaded north
India much earlier through the Khyber Pass. The demise of the
dynasty politically fractured the country, and north India reverted
to its feudal kingdoms. In the Kathiawar Peninsula, Valabhi sepa-
rated from Magadha, so that Paramartha’s family was part of an
autonomous kingdom, the province of Malwa, of which Ujjain was
the capital city. There is no evidence that the Gupta empire con-
trolled western Malwa, including Ujjain, except perhaps in the-
ory.* By 510 both Malwa and Valabhi had regional kings who
theoretically acknowledged the Later Guptas only as the titular
heads of state.

In western Malwa, north of Ujjain, there were several feudal
lords during the early life of Paramartha. The most important was
King Yasodharman, whose heroic deeds in battling the Hiana king
Mihirakula,* son of Toramana, are legendary. We know that Mi-
hirakula was an adherent of a Saivite sect of the Brahmanical
tradition and was alleged to have fiercely persecuted the Bud-
dhists.> Mihirakula and his troops met with fierce resistance, hav-
ing been defeated by Yasodharman of Malwa sometime between
527 and 533, according to a Mandasor (Dasapura) inscription,“ on
which it is said that Mihirakula paid obeisance to the feet of Yasod-
harman. There is some controversy concerning whether Mihira-
kula pressed on to Magadha to be defeated by Narasimhagupta
Baladitya 11.7

Even under Mihirakula and the Maitrakas, the provincial rul-
ers were allowed to continue their reign over the people.® Para-
martha’s contemporaries, then, during his youth were Mihirakula
in Ujjain and Narasimhagupta Baladitya 11, a Later Guptan king,
in Magadha. Yasodharman of Malwa, who captured Mihirakula in
approximately 532, would have been the reigning power in Ujjain
about the time of Paramartha’s departure for foreign lands. Since
Paramartha was their contemporary, he must have enjoyed the
patronage of both Yasodharman and Baladitya 11 in order to have
the requisite financial resources for his missionary effort. Since we
are not certain of the precise date when Paramartha left for China,
probably around 545, he may have had the patronage of either
Baladitya II or, more likely, his son, Kumaragupta 111, both of
whom were patrons of Buddhism—as were most of the Later Gup-
tans. The Maitraka ruler Dhruvasena I of Valabhi, the monastic
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center for Yogacara Buddhism of the type that Paramartha advo-
cated, reigned from at least 525-545 and may have supported
Paramartha's missionary efforts as well.

According to the HKSC Paramirtha set sail at some unknown
date for distant lands to propagate the Buddhist teaching. The
only country named in the HKSC besides China as a place of
missionary activity is Funan. Funan, at the time of Paramartha,
had become a center of international trade, incorporating all of
Cambodia, parts of Thailand, and the lower part of the Mekong
delta in Vietnam. This region functioned as a trade zone between
the two great empires of India and China and had been a vital
economic colony in India’s possession since the first century A.D.
Funan had become predominantly Hindu but Buddhist mission-
ary activity during the sixth century must have intensified, since it
is said that the Buddhists also had a strong following.

It is known that Buddhist monks had already been sent to
China from Funan to translate texts during the imperial reign of
Wu of Liang. Samghapila (or Samghabhara) (460-524) resided in
China from 506 until 522. Mandra (or Mandrasena) collaborated
with him.? Rudravarman,'® son of Jayavarman, had commissioned
at least six emissaries to China, from 517 until 539. Various pre-
sents were sent to the imperial court by Rudravarman, including a
sandalwood image of the Buddha, Indian pearls, a live rhinoceros,
saffron, and a relic of the Buddha (purportedly a twelve-foot-long
strand of hair.)!'! After he allegedly killed Gunavarman, his half
brother and rightful heir to the throne, Rudravarman was in jeop-
ardy of being overthrown by native Cambodians. This eventually
brought the downfall of the Indian colony of Funan.

Two facts can be documented with regard to the state of
Buddhism in Funan at the time of Paramartha. First, government
support of Buddhism was an important factor in trade relations
between Funan and China. Paramartha’s journey to China was not
the first, since envoys to China from Funan had been relatively
frequent before his departure for Canton. We know from the
HKSC that Emperor Wu of Liang had invited monks such as
Samghapila and Mandra from Funan to the imperial court prior
to Paramairtha’s departure for Canton. Second, Rudravarman
must have been the sovereign at the time Paramartha was engaged
in missionary activity in Funan, as he apparently had some interest
in Buddhism, for political if not personal reasons. His reign was to
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come to an abrupt end about the time that Paramartha departed
from Funan.

Although Hinduism was the state religion of Funan, the fact
that Emperor Wu selected Funan as a resource center for recruit-
ing eminent Buddhist monks suggests that there was considerable
missionary activity by Buddhist monks in Funan during the sixth
century. By the beginning of the seventh century, however, Bud-
dhism had been banished from Funan. Paramartha may have al-
ready suspected that Buddhism was beginning to lose its constitu-
ency in Funan when he accepted the invitation to go to China.

Historical Background of Southern China During the Late Liang and
Early Ch'en

The Ta-t'ung reign of Emperor Wu of Liang (reigned 502~
549) marked the beginning of the fourth decade of his reign. He
was a more fervent Buddhist than any Chinese sovereign before
him. This fact is reiterated in Paramartha’s biography in the
HKSC, where it states that:

... the virtue of Emperor Wu of Liang extended over all
parts of the land, causing the Three Jewels [of Buddhism] to
flourish. . .. The emperor wished to transmit and translate
the teachings of the sutras, no less than during the Ch’in Dyn-
asty [Former Ch’in: 351-394; Later Ch’in: 384—417]. In addi-
tion, he [wished to have] published materials surpassing in
number those of the days of the Ch'it Dynasty [479-502].1%

Emperor Wu had originally been of Taoist persuasion, and
his ties to Taoist alchemists continued even after his conversion to
Buddhism in 504 and his subsequent decrees exerting pressure on
Taoists to return to the laity.!* He began his reign in a period of
great prosperity and economic stability, but closed his reign with
indifterence toward the national government. Envisioning himself
as an exemplary Buddhist sovereign, he had constructed many
Buddhist temples, the most famous being the T"ung-t'ai temple,
whose construction between 521-527 drained the state treasuries
of enormous sums of money and increased the burden on the
economy.

In the year of I’ung-t’ai’s completion, Emperor Wu briefly
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retired to become a monk. He was sixty-three years old at the time.
It is at the T’ung’t’ai temple that he had engaged in some of his
most noteworthy and controversial Buddhist practices, including
“Dharma assemblies” where the subtleties of sitras would be dis-
cussed at length, and where he granted amnesty to criminals or
made pronouncements. One of his more unusual practices was to
surrender himself as a temple servant for a day in order to raise
donations from wealthy aristocratic families for the temple cof-
fers.'* 'T'wo instances in which he performed the acts of a temple
servant took place in 546 and 547, shortly before Paramartha’s
arrival in Nanking. The Inexhaustible Treasuries he encouraged
were vast collections of capital, estimated to be worth 10,960,000
pieces of gold in 533.' All these acts were Wu's ptous attempts to
save himself and others from unfortunate states of rebirth. Due to
the zealous practices of Emperor Wu he was praised as p’u-sa t'ien-
tzu, “The bodhisattva and Son of Heaven” — and vilified by Confu-
cian historians as a spendthrift who allowed corrupt Buddhist
practices to continue unchecked. He also was criticized for not
observing the penal code, by being overly lenient toward prisoners
in accordance with his interpretation of the Buddhist ideal of com-
passion. When circumstances necessitated the execution of crimi-
nals, Wu reluctantly gave the command only after burning incense
and invoking the name of the Buddha to eradicate any potential
bad karma he would otherwise incur.

For all of his financial excesses in the name of the Buddhist
religion, Emperor Wu, particularly in the early period of his reign,
established social and economic reforms. He exerted himself in
stabilizing governmental organizations by maintaining tight con-
trol over the Southern Dynastic aristocracy.'® However, at the end
of the Eastern Chin the firmly established aristocratic families had
lost much of their monopoly over government posts; in their stead
rose the “cold men” (han-jen), who were ambitious commoners,
currying favor with local lords. These commoners had the backing
of wealthy regional lords and came to dominate others through
graft and bribery, increasing their own wealth considerably.

‘The history of the shifts in power during the Southern Dynas-
ties must always take into account the fact that the great landown-
ing regional lords had made alliances with the “cold men” for
business, profit, and capital. This economic and political alliance
was to oppress the farmers even more and cause the collapse of
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the Liang. The aristocratic families who had emigrated from the
north, taking flight from the Hsien-pei invaders for the safe re-
gions of the south along the Yangtze delta, gained high adminis-
trative positions but often possessed no real power. The provincial
governors, who were princes of the imperial family, always had to
address the needs of the native southern Chinese clans surround-
ing them. Often the governors were in a weak position with regard
to protecting their own garrisons, since the military recruits came-
from native southern families.

The centralized government was politically organized as a sys-
tem in which each prince moved from one garrison to another,
with a metropolitan headquarters in the capital city of Chien-k'ang
(same as Chien-yeh, referred to in the HKSC, and known today as
Nanking). Militarily, the Liang Dynasty was not only vulnerable to
attack from the foreign rulers of the Toba-Wei house in north
China but also from within its own ranks. By the end of the Liang,
oppression of the peasants and farmers had increased but influ-
ences and threats from north China had temporarily declined,
due to its division into Eastern and Western Wei. The Liang
sought to take advantage of this division by increasing military
intervention. Emperor Wu, late in his career, turned to the “cold
families” (han-men) in hope of using the latter’s power to gain
north China. These trusted men, who had been excellent govern-
ment servants and had not antagonized the aristocratic emigrés,
were given low government positions that had real power behind
them, although they were looked down upon by the aristocracy
because of their plebian origins. Countering Emperor Wu’s ambi-
tions were the ambitions of some of the more powerful southern
Chinese clans and emigrés from the north who wished to appro-
priate for themselves the throne of south China. Unlike in the
Northern Dynasties, there was a constant need to strengthen na-
tionalism in the south. In addition, the tension between spending
vast sums of money on war and on Buddhist practices were signs
of a weakening of the Liang Dynasty. The insufficient increase in
the money supply had been a general tendency since the time of
Liu Sung.!” Economic recession coupled with a high rate of infla-
tion during the late Liang Dynasty gave many of the “cold fam-
ilies” who were merchants increased prosperity and forced peas-
ants and farmers into more lucrative careers in the military as
soldiers for powerful native regional lords.
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The rise of the notorious rebel Hou Ching'*and the marshal-
ing of forces against Emperor Wu is a long, complicated web of
intrigue that remains controversial among historians. Originally
Hou Ching was a powerful general of the Eastern Wei Dynasty in
north China. He had been a military aide to Kao Huan, who had
forced Emperor Hsiao-wu to flee west to Ch’ang-an, where he was
assassinated by Yii-wen T’ai in 534. Kao Huan then set up a pup-
pet emperor, Emperor Hsiao Ching, in Loyang in 535, establish-
ing the Eastern Wei. In 547, almost thirteen years after the inau-
guration of the Eastern Wei dynasty, Kao Huan died. His eldest
son, Kao Ch’eng (d. 549), did not look so favorably upon his fa-
ther’s cohort, Hou Ching. Kao Ch’eng was assassinated in 549 by a
Liang prisoner of war.!¥ Kao Ch’eng’s younger brother, Kao Yang
(629-559), succeeded as the military power behind the throne,
proclaiming himself emperor (Wen-hstan) in 550, establishing the
Northern Ch'i. Following a quarrel with Kao Yang, Hou Ching
planned another military campaign, this time allying himself with
Yu-wen Tai of the Western Wei, Kao Ch’eng’s old rival and the
Hsien-pei power behind the throne in 547. Although Yu-wen 17ai
was uneasy about the alliance with Hou Ching, he commanded
Hou Ching to seize the Eastern Wei capital of Loyang. Hou Ching
felt trapped between the two rival forces. In 548, he allied himself
with Emperor Wu so as to gain his assistance in this crisis.

By this time Emperor Wu was well into his dotage and had
delegated the bulk of administrative responsibilities to both com-
petent officials and inefficient relatives from his immediate family.
Against the will of some of his most trusted advisers, Emperor Wu
enfeoffed Hou Ching as Prince of Honan, so as to cause trouble
tor both the Eastern and Western Wei. Throughout the ensuing
hostilities precipitated by Hou Ching, Emperor Wu was to be inef-
fectual in rallying forces to defend the capital and empire from
the duplicitous Hou Ching. Assisted by one of Emperor Wu’s own
sons, Hou Ching eventually seized the capital city of Nanking on
April 24, 549, after a six-month insurrection in which there was
lack of resistance from imperial troops. With dignity befitting an
imperial authority, Emperor Wu received Hou Ching at court
when the rebel stormed the palace gates.?” Emperor Wu died of
starvation on June 12, 549, while under house arrest.

After two-and-a-half years of nominally supporting the right-
ful heir to the throne, in the seventh month of 551 Hou Ching had
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the puppet emperor Chien-wen (Hsiao Kang) intoxicated and
then suffocated him and murdered many of his children. After
the three-month interim reign of Hsiao Tung, Emperor Chien-
wen's successor, Hou Ching proclaimed himself Emperor of Han
on January 1, 552, and imprisoned Hsiao Tung.?' On April 28,
552, three months after Hou Ching’s ascent to the throne, Hou
Ching was forced to flee Nanking by troups commanded by the
powerful generals Wang Seng-pien (d. 555)** and Ch’en Pa-hsien
(503-559),2% under the orders of Hsiao I. On May 26, 552, Gener-
al Wang Seng-pien killed Hou Ching and displayed his corpse in
Nanking. His corpse was savagely torn to pieces by the people and
eaten, then the bones were set afire. His head was taken to Chiang-
ling where emperor (Yian) allowed the birds to eat 1.2

Emperor Liang's seventh son, Hsiao 1, who had originally
been enfeoffed as Prince of Hsiang-tung, and who lived in
Chiang-ling, approximately 450 miles southwest of Nanking, pro-
claimed himself emperor (Yian) of the Liang in Chiang-ling on
December 13, 552.2° His general, Wang Seng-pien, who had
overthrown his father’s assassin, Hou Ching, was the power be-
hind the restoration of the Liang, and was still in Nanking. Per-
haps suspicious of Wang Seng-pien’s own political ambitions, the
newly declared Emperor Yiian wisely chose to stay in Chiang-ling
but sent both generals to Nanking. Nearly all the aristocratic
emigrés who had survived the fall of Nanking sought refuge
where Hsiao | resided.?® Fearing also his younger brother, Hsiao
Chi, in Szechuan, Hsiao | had him assassinated by the Western
Wei in August 553.27 The regions of Szechuan, however, were
sacrificed to the Western Wei, led by Yii-wen '["ai, in exchange for
the disposal of Hsiao Chi, and the court was maintained in
Chiang-ling where Hsiao I now resided. This city was seized easily
by the Western Wei a year later, at the close of 554. 'The Western
Wei plotted the death of Hsiao 1 by taking all Liang functionaries
prisoners and leading them to Kuan-chung at the hasin of the Wei
River. Only about two hundred families escaped forced migra-
tion.2® Hsiao Ch'a, the son of Hsiao Tung, had Hsiao I crushed to
death while under the security of the Western Wei. On February
7, 555, he proclaimed himself emperor (posthumously known as
Prince of Yiichang).

Meanwhile, in Nanking both of Emperor Yian's generals,
Wang Seng-pien and Ch’en Pa-hsien, were maneuvering for the
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ultimate power behind the throne. The succession to the throne of
Liang posed a difficult problem. Hsiao Fang-chih was proclaimed
heir apparent by both generals. Later, however, Hsiao Yian-
ming, the late Emperor Wu’s nephew, a repatriated heir to the
throne living in Northern Ch’i, where he had been in exile, was
summoned back from Northern Ch’i by Wang Seng-pien. On July
1, 555, he was proclaimed emperor, and Hsiao Fang-chih was
designated prince regent, a virtual demotion. This was agreed
upon with the Northern Ch’i, and Nanking was securely in their
possession. This lasted a mere five months before a conflict be-
tween Ch’en Pa-hsien and Wang Seng-pien left the slayer of Hou
Ching dead.?® Hsiao Yiian-ming, who had been sponsored by
Wang Seng-pien, was deposed and the fifteen-year-old prince re-
gent, Hsiao Fang-chih, Prince of Chin-an, ascended the throne as
emperor (posthumously known as Emperor Ching), with the
sponsorship of Ch’en Pa-hsien. After an appropriate waiting peri-
od of two years with Hsiao Fang-chih as a puppet emperor, Ch’en
Pa-hsien proclaimed himself emperor on November 16, 557, be-
ginning the Ch’en Dynasty.

The Biography of Paramartha

A standard account of his tamily background and place of
birth is given in the HKSC,*" allegedly based upon a biography of
Ts’ao Pi, nephew of Paramartha’s favorite disciple, Hui-k'ai. This
biography not only establishes his foreign origins, but also admits
that an Indian Buddhist missionary-monk was as refined and as
intellectually well-bred as upper-class Chinese. We are told that his
personal name was Kulanatha, which means “refuge of the fam-
ily”; his religious name, Paramartha, means “ultimate goal.” Born
in northwest India in Ujjain (Ujjayini) (northeast of Baroda in
Madhya Pradesh),*' he was a Brahman by birth, of the prominent
Bharadvaja caste or clan (gotra).*? He is praised for the usual vir-
tues of a Buddhist monk: his impeccable morals, calm and digni-
fied demeanor, and proficiency in scripture, literary arts, magic,
fine arts and crafts. A truly gifted man, whose knowledge was not
only in Buddhist doctrine, he also seems to have been well suited
temperamentally for a missionary career, having undertaken long
and arduous journeys without fear of foreign people’s “treach-
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ery.”* It is also said that his beneficent presence was compatible
with the dispositions of the native people he encountered. These
are, of course, prerequisites for the ideal missionary-monk.

Little more is known of Paramartha’s life in India. He was a
monk (frdmana) who had gained a considerable religious reputa-
tion for scholarship and travel. The biographical record in the
HKSC mentions that Emperor Wu of Liang devoutly yearned to
extend Buddhism throughout China. During the Ta-t'ung era
(535-546) he ordered his Palace Rear Guard Chang Fan and a
contingent to accompany the ambassador from Funan (Cambodia)
back to his own country.** Emperor Wu wished to invite eminent
scholars in Mahayana Buddhism to bring significant satras and
$astras to China. At this time Paramartha’s reputation as a scholar
and missionary living in Funan presumably was brought to the
ambassador’s attention, for the ambassador of Funan sent him to
Emperor Wu’s court in compliance with the imperial order.

Little is known of Paramartha’s adulthood until his early for-
ties, when he arrived in Canton. He may have resided in Funan
for some length of time, judging from the reputation he had
gained with the ambassador and, presumably, the government in
general.

The first of many documentary discrepancies in the account of
Paramartha’s journey to China deals with the facts surrounding
the departure from Funan. According to his official biography in
HKSC he was sent to China from Funan and took many texts with
him.* It is very clear from historical records, both Buddhist and
dynastic, that Emperor Wu of Liang made tremendous effort and
donated large sums of money to make Buddhism prosperous and
to seek out Buddhist missionaries. The account in the HKSC is
based upon Pao-kuei’s introduction to the “new” Suvarnaprabhasa-
satra (Hsin-ho chin kuang-ming ching), eighth chian, preserved in the
Li-tai san-pao chi (LTSPC):

Emperor Wu of Liang feared rebirth in the three [unfortu-
nate] destinies and grieved over falling into the four kinds of
gestation [womb, egg, moisture, or spontaneously generated].
He [wished to] set sail to rescue the drowning, ho%ding on to
the torch of wisdom, in order to enlighten [others’] delusion.
During the Ta-t’'ung period the emperor sent a Rear Guard
Chang Szu to Funan to send back to China invited eminent
monks and Mahayana §astras and sitras of various kinds. This
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country [Funan] then yielded in turning over the western
Indian Dharma Master from Ujjain, namely Paramartha, who,
in Liang, was called Chen-ti, and with him, many satras and
§astras in order to honor the emperor.

After the Dharma Master Paramairtha had traveled to
many kingdoms he had settled in Funan. His manner was
lively and intelligent and he had relished details in scriptural
texts and profound texts, all of which he had studied. In the
first year of T’ai-ch’ing (547) he went to the capital and had a
visit with the emperor who himself bowed down to him in the
Jeweled Cloud (Pao-ytin) quarters of the palace in reverence
to him, wishing for him to translate sitras and $astras, relying
upon the foreigner. Opposition from the law made it difficult
for foreigners to be titled.?®

The Pao-kuei introduction may be reliable, since the intro-
duction was written in 597, only about sixty years after Para-
martha was summoned from Funan (in approximately 535),*7 and
twenty-eight years after Paramartha's death, in 569. Pao-kuer’s
teacher, T'ao-an, had been one of Paramartha’s followers, and his
death in 581 at the end of the Northern Chou Dynasty came only
thirteen years after Paramartha’s. Some of the more recent ac-
counts of Paramartha’s embarking on his journey to south China
claim that Emperor Wu of Liang commissioned an envoy to go to
Magadha, not Funan, to acquire sitras and Dharma Masters. From
Magadha the envoy met the Tripitaka Master Kulanatha, who at
first adamantly refused to go to China, but eventually boarded a
ship with his attendant Gautama and many others, bearing a gift
of a rosewood statue of the Buddha to be presented at the imperial
court.*™ The K'ai-yiian lu (KYL) combines parts of both versions of
the account, namely, that the Rear Guard Chang Fan (or Chang
Szu) had accompanied the Funan ambassador to his own country
and then went to Magadha.* This combined account is the most
questionable of all the sources, since passages are cited verbatim
from both HKSC and the colophon to the Ch’i-hsin lun, but synthe-
sized.

Of the four historical documents that mention the imperial
envoy, the Ch’i-hsin lun is allegedly apocryphal and the KYL incor-
porates portions of the Ch’i-hsin lun. If one rules out these two
records as unreliable historical sources, then there can be no doubt
that Paramartha was in Funan engaging in missionary activity
some time during the Ta-t'ung era of the Liang Dynasty.
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Besides the conflicting textual evidence about Funan, the year
of departure remains vague in all historical records. Paramartha’s
official biography in the HKSC simply states that during the Ta-
t'ung era, a span of slightly over ten years, the mission led by Rear
Guard Chang Fan was sent to seek out Buddhist monks and scrip-
tural texts. All other documents that indicate a time of departure
follow the HKSC.

When Paramartha arrived in Nanhai (modern Canton) on
September 25, 546, it was the last year of the T'a-t'ung era. We may
assume that his departure from Funan was towards the latter half
of the Ta-t'ung era, thus giving ample traveling time to make the
journey. Having stopped at various places along the coast, he ar-
rived at the capital city, Chien-yeh (south ot modern Nanking),
two years later, in the intercalary month of the second year of '[7ai-
ch’ing (August 20 through September 17, 548).%" When he arrived
at court, the eighty-five-year-old Emperor Wu prostrated himself
before Paramartha—an extremely rare show of reverence—and
had an audience with him in the Pao-yiin temple.*' At the time of
this audience, Paramartha was almost fifty years old and an expe-
rienced world traveler. While having his audience with the elderly
emperor, Paramartha was unaware of an event that was to affect
both his missionary efforts in China and the royal patronage ot his
translation work—the plotting of the downfall of the Liang court
by the Toba rebel Hou Ching.

A mere two months after Paramartha’s arrival in Nanking,
the rebellion had commenced and Emperor Wu'’s patronage was
attenuated by the impending political crisis. From the day of Para-
martha’s reception at court until Emperor Wu’s death by starva-
tion while under house arrest on June 12, 549, Paramartha was
sponsored, for a scant ten-month period, by the imperial court of
Liang, before the uprising of Hou Ching’s troops.

After Emperor Wu’s unfortunate death, Paramartha fled to
Fu-ch’un, in Chekiang, Fu-yang district, approximately 150 miles
southeast of Nanking, near Mt. Siao. There he was sponsored by
Lu Yian-che, the regional governor of Fu-ch’'un and a recent
convert to Buddhism. Paramartha attempted to resume transla-
tion activities. With a staff of twenty accomplished monks, includ-
ing Pao-ch’iung (504-584),*” he began translating the Shih-ch’i-ti-
lun (Treatise on the Seventeen Bodhisattva Stages) in five chiian during
the fourth year of 'I"ai-ch’ing (550). The text is now lost.** Accord-
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ing to the KYL the monks apparently met with difficulties in trans-
lating the text, so they stopped work.** The HKSC states that
“although [the political and military situation of] the country has
not yet been settled, he [Paramartha] transmitted the text with an
appendix (or glossary).”™"* However, “transmitted” does not neces-
sarily indicate that the text was completely committed to writing,
so there need not be any contradiction between the sources, HKSC
and KYL. Both the older catalog, the LI'SPC, and the more recent
Ta t'ang nei tien lu (N'TL) omit any mention of an interruption in
the translation but both catalogs give the same date and place of
translation as found in the HKSC and KYL.%%

After presumably beginning the translation of the Treatise on
the Seventeen Bodhisattva Stages, Paramartha returned to the capital
city in the third year of 1"ien-pao (552)*" by invitation of none
other than Hou Ching himself. Undoubtedly Hou Ching knew of
Paramartha’s activities at Governor Lu Yian-che’s, and so sum-
moned him to court. The HKSC laments: “At this time there was
continuous warfare and famine; the Dharma was close to ruin.”™#*
In the two and one-half years at Governor Lu Yian-che’s estate,
Paramartha had had the solitude to begin the translation work he
had intended as his chief purpose in traveling to China, but he also
undoubtedly had been concerned about political affairs at court,
where the murderer of Emperor Wu now dictated national policy.
Even more dispirited must his monastic assistants have been at the
starvation, devastation, and barbarisms in their homeland.*" Al-
though reasons for stopping the translation of the Treatise on the
Seventeen Bodhisattva Stages are not given in any of the records,
psychological as well as scholarly difficulties must have affected
the monks assisting Paramartha in rendering the original text into
Chinese.

Paramartha, who had unfortunately found himself in the
midst of insurrection, was now summoned to Nanking by Hou
Ching, four years after he had first entered the palace gates under
the sedate reign of Emperor Wu. There is no indication from the
HKSC whether Paramartha was reluctant to visit Hou Ching. The
tone in his biography is neutral with regard to Paramartha’s atti-
tude towards Hou Ching’s invitation. It is intriguing to speculate
as to the motives behind Hou Ching’s invitation to Paramartha. He
evidently desired Buddhist support, as indicated by his immediate
orders for the construction of new Buddhist temples, even though
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he had burned countless temples before he seized Nanking.*" Per-
haps the learned monk was to be used as a symbol of Hou Ching’s
purported zeal for the Buddhist path or perhaps, and more likely,
Hou Ching wanted to exploit the prestige of a foreign monk after
his usurpation of the throne and ravaging of the south. What
better way to keep watch on Paramartha and any possible political
maneuvers by his wealthy provincial patrons than to keep him
under surveillance in palace quarters while pretending a desire to
learn the Buddhist sitras? In any event, Paramartha was not in a
position to refuse Hou Ching’s summons, so he left Fu-ch’un for
the capital, where he was duly honored by the rebel.

How long Paramartha was in Fu-ch’un is impossible to calcu-
late with certainty but we can surmise that he left Nanking imme-
diately before or after Emperor Wu's death in June, 549. Assum-
ing that either Paramartha or his supporters realized his life was
immediately threatened, he escaped an ignominious death at the
hands of Hou Ching. Approximately two and one-half years later,
in 552, he had his audience with Hou Ching. The monk must have
had the suspicion that he was in a politically sensitive situation and
certainly must have conducted himself in the rebel’s presence with
the subtlest diplomacy. Paramartha did not have to endure the
tensions of such circumstances for very long however. Given the
one-hundred-twenty-day span of Hou Ching’s reign, we may esti-
mate that Paramartha had to endure the unchanneled violence of
his environment in Hou Ching’s palace for no more than four
months.3!

During Emperor Yian’s reign, which began the Ch’eng-
sheng era on December 13, 552, Paramartha settled at the Cheng-
kuan temple in Nanking. That means that instead of being in
Chiang-ling with the imperial court of Emperor Yian, Para-
martha decided to stay in the capital, where the real powers, Wang
Seng-pien and Ch’en Pa-hsien, were aligning their forces. There,
with more than twenty monks, including Yiian-ch'an, he translat-
ed the Suvarnaprabhasa-sitra.

There are some interesting points of disagreement among the
records. First of all, the HKSC does not mention any specific date
for translating the Suvarnaprabhdsa, only mentioning that Para-
martha translated the text at the Cheng-kuan temple in Nanking
during Emperor Yiian’s reign, that is, during the Ch’eng-sheng
period (5652-555). There are two textual dates given in some of the
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other sources. LTSPC gives the date of the first year, Ch’eng-
sheng, namely 552, at the Cheng-kuan temple and also at Yang
Hsiung’s residence in the Ch’ang-fan region of Nanking,*? NTL
and KYL follow suit, giving the identical time and place of transla-
tion.”® The Ku-nien i ching t'u chi (KN) gives the third year of
Ch’eng-sheng (554).>* The Tunhuang manuscript of the introduc-
tion to the first chiian of the composite Suvarnaprabhasa transla-
tion,’* undertaken by Pao-kuei, states that the earlier redaction by
Paramartha was translated from the second month, twenty-fifth
day, of the second year Ch'eng-sheng (March 25, 553) until the
third month, twentieth day of that same year (April 18). Thus, the
LTSPC, NTL, KYL, and KN records would be in error unless we
assume that the period delineated in the Tunhuang manuscript is
much too brief to translate a sitra seven chiian in length. Given his
usual speed of translating and the turmoil of the uprising of Hou
Ching, it is more reasonable to assume that Paramartha and his
staff began the translation during the first year of Ch’eng-sheng
(552), and continued to revise and refine the style until probably
April 18 of the following year. The KN, which is the only record to
give third year Ch’eng-sheng, may be ruled out as either an error
or as indicating that further revisions of the translation or subse-
quent discussion may have taken place in 554. Documentary evi-
dence of two translation sites for the Suvarnaprabhasa-sitra indi-
cates that the translation staff most likely worked on the text first
at the Cheng-kuan temple in 552 and then later worked at Yang
Hsiung’s residence in the Ch’ang-fan region of Nanking from
March 25, 553, until at least April 8, 553.5¢

From Nanking Paramartha traveled approximately three
hundred miles southwest to Yiichang, in the second month, third
year of Ch’eng-sheng (March 19-April 17, 554). The HKSC men-
tions that this was a return visit to Yiichang, even though no re-
cording of a first visit to that city is found in any of the existing
documents. The HKSC could be in error and Paramartha may
have been paying his first visit to Yiichang. The KN supports this
view, stating that Paramartha “went” to Yiichang, not that he re-
turned there. The KYL, which is based on the HKSC in part,
follows the latter text exactly. Since Hsiao 1 (Emperor Yiian) as-
sumed the throne in Chiang-ling in December, 552. Paramartha
may have visited him before he became emperor in his earlier
residence at Yuchang. This trip would have taken place on his way
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to the Cheng-kuan temple in Nanking, where the generals Ch’en
Pa-hsien and Wang Seng-pien were vying for political power. Par-
amartha’s return trip to Yiichang in 554 would have taken time,
considering the three-hundred-mile journey involved. At Yi-
chang he is said to have met the eminent monk Ching-shao (508-
583),%7 and he visited temples in the immediate vicinity, Shih-
hsing and, probably, Hsin-wu.

Ui hypothesizes that the first time Paramartha went to Yii-
chang was on his way to Nanking from Nanhai (modern Can-
ton).*® That is, after Paramartha disembarked from his ship in
Canton on September 25, 546, he stopped at various places in the
Kwangtung region for two years until his arrival in Nanking,
sometime between August 20 and September 17, 548. One of the
places between Canton and Nanking along the possible water
routes is Yichang, about midway between the two great urban
centers. T"ang Yung-t'ung gives the same hypothesis for Para-
martha’s first purported visit to Yiichang.’ In any event, Yiichang
became a refuge for Paramartha on several occasions, for it reap-
pears in the biography later on.

At the Pao-t'ien temple in Yiichang in 554, Paramartha com-
pleted translations of the Mi-lo hsia sheng ching (Satra of Maitreya’s
Descent [from Heaven]) and the Jen wang pan-jo ching (Sitra of the
Perfection of Wisdom of the Benevolent King), aided by Hui-hsien and
ten other monks.* He met Ching-shao, who was forty-six years
old; Paramartha was fifty-five. According to Ching-shao’s biogra-
phy in the HKSC, Paramartha said that Ching-shao was “one of
the strangest individuals I have ever met.”' A commentary on the
Sutra of the Perfection of Wisdom of the Benevolent King was composed
five years earlier, in 549, according to the L'TSPC and N'I'L,? but
this is highly improbable, since Hou Ching was mounting his re-
bellion at that time. It is doubtful that such a commentary ever
existed, given the paucity of sources and the improbable date of
composition. After completing these translations, Paramartha
moved to Hsin-wu where he resided at the Mei-yeh temple and
may have translated the Chiu shih i-chi (Commentary on the Theory of
Nine Consciousnesses) in two chiian, a text no longer extant.® From
there he moved to Shih-hsing, where he allegedly translated the
Ta-sheng ch’i hsin lun (Awakening of Faith in Mahayana), supposedly
in the second year of Ch'eng-sheng (553). Both the authorship of
the text and the translation date are highly problematic, however.
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After having spent a brief period of time in Shih-hsing, Para-
martha moved northward, across the Nan-ling mountain range to
Nan-k’ang (near modern Kiangsi, district of Kan), protected by
the Grand Guardian Hsiao Po,%* who escorted him across the
mountains. At that time Ouyang Wei was imperial representative
of Shih-hsing (called Tung Heng-chou under Emperor Yiian) and
also the honorary marquis of that area. We may assume that the
uneasy alliance between Grand Guardian Hsiao Po, an erstwhile
foe of Ouyang Wei’s, had been resolved and that Ouyang Wei had
made amends by this time. Hsiao Po lived in Kwangchow and
Emperor Yiian had been troubled by Hsiao Po’s power and had
sent troops to replace Hsiao Po as governor of Kwangchow. Hsiao
Po led his troops to Shih-hsing, turning back the emperor’s troops
while Ouyang Wei closed the gates to his fortress to ward off
battle. Hsiao Po was furious, and seized Ouyang Wei's property,
but then returned the wealth on the condition of an oath of alle-
giance. Hsiao Po then crossed the mountains from Nan-k'ang,
making Ouyang Wei his military governor.%> These events all took
place after the ninth month of the third year Ch’eng-sheng (Octo-
ber 12-November 10, 554) when Hsiao Po was living in Shih-hsing
and had left Kwangchow.

Since Hsiao Po had made many trips to oversee the region
around Shih-hsing, on several occasions explicitly to outmaneuver
the powerful governor Quyang Wei, he was experienced in cross-
ing the Nan-ling mountains and could conveniently accompany
Paramartha to Nan-k’ang at the same time that he supervised the
area under the guise of assisting a Buddhist monk in his travels.
The time of this sojourn across the mountains had to be between
the closing months of 554 and the third month of 557 (April 15-
May 13) when Hsiao Po was killed.% In the second month of 557,
one month before his death, Hsiao Po, having raised his army in
rebellion against the emperor, crossed the Nan-ling mountains to
Nan-k’ang. It was probably at this time that Paramartha was es-
corted to Nan-k’ang, having spent a good part of the years 555
and 556 in Shih-hsing. During this period, Paramartha “translated
in these various places in a hurried manner without a patron.”’
At Shih-hsing Paramartha is said to have translated the Sui-hsiang
lun chung shih-liu ti shu (A Commentary on the Sixteen Truths from the
Laksananusara-§astra [a commentary on the Abhidharma-kosa attrib-
uted to Gunamati]).®®
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In the third year of Chao-t'ai (557),% at the very close of the
Liang Dynasty, Paramartha completed the translation of the Wu-
shang i ching (Auttarasraya-sitra) (Supreme Foundation Satra), in the
ninth month, eighth day (October 16), at the request of Liu Wen-
t'o, Secretary of Nan-k’ang, P’'ing-ku district. This date is found in
the colophon to the Wu-shang i ching preserved in the KYL, which
criticizes the LTSPC for cataloging this text as a Ch'en transla-
tion.”"

For at least a third time Paramartha returned to Yiichang, in
the seventh month of the second year of Yung-ting (July 31-Au-
gust 29, 558). He also visited Lin-ch’'uan (in Kiangsi, directly
south, approximately forty miles from Yiichang) and Chin-an (in
Fukien, a port city along the coast, three hundred fifty miles
southeast of Yiichang). First, he stopped at Lin-ch’uan, where he
translated two treatises by Vasubandhu, Chung-pien fen-pieh lun
(Madhyantavibhaga)(Discernment of the Middle and Extremes) and the
Wei-shih lun (Treatise on Consciousness-Only).”!

From Lin-ch’'uan Paramartha traveled to the port city of
Chin-an. At this time, the important monks Seng-tsung, Fa-chun,
Chih-wen (509-599), Hui-jen, Hui-k’ai, Fa-jen, Hui-kuang, and
Fa-t’ai crossed the Ling-nan mountains to have an audience with
the Indian Buddhist missionary. According to Fa-t'ai’s biography,
Paramartha had been traveling in China for more than ten years
when he desired to go back to his homeland. At that time Ouyang
Wei detained him in Kwangchow.”? According to the same source,
Fa-vai, Seng-tsung, Hui-K'ai and others desired to be instructed
and went to the Chih-chih temple in Kwangchow for Paramartha’s
teachings. Hui-kuang’s biography also mentions his being instruct-
ed at the same time as Seng-tsung, Hui-k'ai, and Fa-chun, but
omits any travel across the Ling-nan mountains.” According to
Chih-wen’s biography, Chih-wen, Seng-tsung, Fa-chun, and other
eminent monks stopped at Chin-an with Paramartha. It is not
clear from the text when this meeting took place, nor if the meet-
ing was the first with Paramartha or a subsequent visit.”* The only
clear indication of a visit to Chin-an is at this time. Liang-an, which
has been tentatively identified by Ui as equivalent to Chin-an, was
a point of travel for Paramartha in 563, some five years later.
Hence, we can say that these monks who sought the missionary's
new Buddhist teachings met him in either 558 at Chin-an or in
563—if we accept Ui’s identification of Liang-an with Chin-an.?
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Only one translation is associated with Chin-an, Ch'eng lun shih i
(An Explanation of Correct Doctrines), cited in the LTSPC and
NTL,? as translated at the Fo-li temple during the Ch’en Dynasty.

Moving from place to place must have been unsettling for
him, for his biography notes that:

.. . although Paramartha transmitted sutras and Sdstras, the
practice of [the Buddhist] religion was deficient and he was
depressed, for his original objective had not been realized.
Furthermore, observing the vicissitudes of the times [for
disseminating Buddhism], he desired to sail to Lankasukha
(Malaysia). Monks and laity earnestly begged him to prom-
ise to stay. He could not escape public opinion and so he
stayed in the southeastern regions (nan-yiieh) [of China).
Together with his old friends from the preceding Liang
Dynasty, he reviewed his translations. Whenever the words
and the meaning conflicted, these would all be recast and
organized in order to make them consistent throughout
[the text], from beginning to end.””

And so he continued to pursue the difficult work of translating
amidst personal depression and the instabilities of Ch’en economic
patronage.

While Paramartha was in the southeastern regions of Fukien
and Kiangsi he commenced translation work on what were to be
some of his best known works, many of which are collected in the
Taisho. The Korean Yogacirin master Wonchuk, in his commen-
tary on the Samdhinirmocana, Chieh-shen-mi-ching shu, places the
translation of the Samdhinirmocana (Chich-chieh ching) by Para-
martha within the Pao-ting era of the Northern Chou (561-565) in
the Ssu-t'ien-wang temple. He cites an index of Paramartha's
works that dates the text in the second year T’ien-chia (561) in
Chien-tsao temple.” In all the sitra catalogs, however, no date or
place of translation is specified other than the general dating of
the text as a Ch’en Dynasty translation. According to Ui, Hui-Kai
gives the dates of translation of the Wei-shih lun (Treatise on Con-
sciousness-Only) as from the fourth month, sixteenth day, in the
fourth year T’ien-chia (May 23, 563) until the third month, fifth
day, in the fifth year of T'ien-chia (April 1, 564). The Mahayan-
samgraha (Acceptance of Mahdydna) (She ta-sheng lun) was translated
immediately after the Wei-shih lun, in Ui’s opinion,” although this
disagrees with the HKSC, which reverses the order, placing the
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translation of the Samgraha betore the Wei-shih lun. Even though
the exact sequence of events is unclear, Fa-t'ar’s biography sug-
gests that the Samgraha was translated at Ouyang Wei's residence
in Kwangchow.® Since Quyang Wei died in 563, his patronage of
the Samgraha translation project could have taken place only up
through 563, the fourth year of T’ien-chia. Therefore, the Sam-
graha was probably initially translated before the Wei-shih lun, in
agreement with the account in the HKSC, NTL, LTSPC, and
KYL.#! The translation may have been initiated in 561 at the
Chien-tsao temple, continued at the Ssu-tien-wang temple and
either completed in Ouyang Wei's residence in 563 or continued
after his death when his son, Ouyang Ho, became the financial
sponsor of Paramartha’s works.

By the fourth year of T'ien-chia (563) Paramartha had gained
prominence throughout southern China and had developed an
ardent group of disciples, including Hui-k'ai, Seng-tsung, Ching-
shao, Fa-k’an, and Fa-t'ai, who traveled great distances to hear his
new teachings, particularly those based on the Samgraha:

All prominent monks in Chien-yeh [Nanking]—Seng-
tsung from Chien-yian temple in Yang-tu, Fa-chun, Seng-
jen, and others—had respectfully heard about the innovative
teaching [of Paramartha]. Therefore, they traveled far south
of the Yangtze in order personally to receive his excellent
answers [to their questions] about the new teaching. Para-
martha was delighted that they had desired to come to him,
and [consequently] translated the Maehayanasamgraha and oth-
er $astras for them, which took a total of two years [to trans-
late]. He again commented on the doctrinal meanings [of
texts], roaming from one place to another, without peace of
mind.*

Sometime before or in the midst of translating the Samgraha,
Paramartha must have grown disheartened at his circumstances,
even though his earnest following of disciples and Governor Wang
Fang-she attempted to boost his morale. On the twenty-fifth day,
ninth month, of the third year T'ien-chia (November 7, 562), ac-
cording to Ui, or during the ninth month of that same year (Sep-
tember 17-October 16th), Paramartha again decided to leave Chi-
na, setting sail in a small boat from Liang-an to his homeland, but
strong winds and his “fate” drove him back to Canton in the
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twelfth month (January 10-February 9, 563) after three months at
sea. From this ill-fated sea voyage he was invited by Ouyang Wei to
live at the Chih-chih temple in Canton and begin translating his
most important works, the Samgraha and Wei-shih lun. We do not
know the exact month of Ouyang Wei's death in 563, but we can
say that Paramartha had the economic resources of Ouyang Wei's
son, Ho, after the father died, as clearly indicated in the HKSC.
Quyang Ho (538-370) apparently was intellectually gifted and
contributed to or actively observed the translation proceedings.
After this invitation “Paramartha considered these conditions, re-
alizing that it was impossible to return west.”** After 562, he did
not make any other attempts to leave China and appeared to have
proceeded at a rapid pace under fairly stable conditions to resume
his work at the Ouyang estate.

In the HKSC a bit of hagiography follows the description of
Ouyang Ho’s patronage of Paramartha and his staft. ‘The Indian
missionary apparently had an island retreat off of Canton in the
delta of the Pearl River. The waters were turbulent and the clitfs
jutting out toward the water were very steep. Paramartha, howev-
er, was believed to be able to cross the waters effortlessly, while
Ouyang Ho dared not cross the treacherous waters. On one occa-
sion Paramartha went to visit Ho.

Paramartha spread out his sitting mat on the water and sat
cross-legged on it, as if he were riding a boat. He floated over
the waters to the shore. When he climbed ashore to greet him
[Ouyang HoJ, the sitting mat was not wet, and he spread it out
as usual [to sit on]. Other times he would use a lotus leaf as a
boat to ride across. ‘There are many examples of such marvels
[pertaining to Paramartha}.®!

After five years of intensive translation (of texts such as the
Vajracchedika, Kuang-i fa-men ching, and Abhidharmakosa), made
possible through the generosity of the Ouyang family, another
dramatic event occurred in Paramartha’s life, second only to the
fall of Nanking. During the sixth month of the second year
Kuang-t'ai or Kuang-ta (July 10-August 8, 568):

Paramartha had grown weary of the world and felt extremely
fatigued. 1t seemed better to him to prepare for an early
rebirth in a better world. So he went into the mountains north
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of Nanhai [Canton] intending to commit suicide. At that time,
Chih-k’ai [Hui-k’ai] was lecturing on the Abhidharmakosa. On
hearing what had happened, he hurried to him [Paramartha].
Monks and laity ran after one another into the countryside
{towards the mountains]. The governor [Ouyang Ho} also
dispatched envoys and guardsmen to restrain him. He [the
governor] personally prostrated himself {in front of Para-
martha). Only after detaining him for three days did he [Para-
martha) return to his normal state.*®

After his attempted suicide, he then stopped at the Wang-
yilan temple with his closest disciples Seng-tsung and Hui-kai,
who had requested that Paramartha be invited to the capital by
Emperor Wen. Monks at court

.. who were in prestigious positions and had great reputa-
tions were afraid of losing [their status] and so memorialized
saying “Those groups of works translated beyond the moun-
tains [in the Kwangtung and Kwangsi regions] mainly ex-
pound Idealism (‘Consciousness-Only’) without sense objects
(wu-ch’en wei-shih). Their words are antagonistic to govern-
ment policy and damaging to the national morale. He should
not be allowed in China proper, but relegated to the hinter-
lands.” The emperor agreed. Therefore, the innovative writ-
ings from Nanhai remained hidden throughout the Ch’en
Dynasty.#¢

Then, two months later, on the twelfth day, eighth month of the
second year of Kuang-t'ai (September 18, 568), Paramartha’s fa-
vorite disciple, Hui-k’ai, died. Paramartha grieved deeply for him
and burned candles and incense with the rest of his disciples in Fa-
chun’s room. He continued to translate the Abhidharmakosa, no
longer assisted by Hui-kai, but he soon became very sick himself.
On February 12, 569, at noon, five months after Hui-k’ai’s death,
Paramartha died at the age of seventy-one. The next day his body
was cremated and a stipa erected at Ch’'ao-ting (near Canton). On
the thirteenth day (February 15) Seng-tsung, Fa-chun, and others
returned to Mt. Lu in Kiangsi to carry on the work of Paramartha.

When one looks at the biographical account of Paramartha'’s
circumstances and compares his situation with the prodigious
amount of translation activity undertaken during those political
upheavals, one is struck by the amazing tenacity and endurance
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with which the seemingly insurmountable obstacles to close and
difficult textual study were overcome.

Now during Paramartha's time in the Liang Dynasty, there
was chaos and anarchy. The response {to crisis] was defeatist
and fatalistic. The roads and river ways were seldom traveled.
He roamed about as a missionary; in accordance with regional
affinities he pursued his course. This resulted in the fragmen-
tation of the textual collections and the frequent separation
from some of his translators.®’

This would hold true, in Paramartha’s case, not only for Liang
but also for the Ch’en Dynasty. Not only is Paramartha portrayed
by his biographer as a patient, assiduous monk in a hostile society,
but he is also reverentially treated as a saint, honored as the Master
of the Bodhisattva Precepts,® and as one who could perform mir-
acles. This may even hint at the wonder with which the biographer
beheld Paramartha’s voluminous translations, for would it not be
something of a miracle and a demonstration of a highly disci-
plined nature to translate extremely difficult philosophical texts
while being forced to move from place to place? The biography
holds one’s interest in another way as well. The mental dejection
of a monk who was compelled to be a political survivor as well as a
reclusive missionary scholar is poignant yet realistic. He was not
accustomed to the political arena of southern Chinese society, and
the continual confrontation with various state officials frustrated
the saintly Paramartha to the point of contemplating suicide. An
uneasy but pragmatic alliance between various provincial military
men such as Ouyang Wei and his son Ho was necessary both
economically and politically. This was a situation characteristic of
many Buddhist clergy in southern China, and proved to be the
rule rather than the exception.

The wise and stoic Paramartha comes to life as a missionary-
monk first and foremost, as a politically astute foreigner secondar-
ily, and yet also as one whose human relationships reinforced the
image of the brilliant, culturally adaptable man of spartan and
restrained manner. Two interesting anecdotes are preserved in his

biography:

One day when the weather was bitterly cold, Paramartha
was wearing only thin clothing, and he endured it without
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mentioning it all night. Some of his students were seated by
his side. Hui-k'ai and others stood quietly by him in atten-
dance throughout the night. They debated and conversed for
a long time, until their voices had become quite loud. At one
point Paramartha fell asleep. [Hui-]k’ai quietly covered him
with a garment, but Paramartha was secretly aware of it and
let it fall to the ground. His stoicism and contentment with
little was like that. [Hui-Jk’ai continued to serve Paramartha,
becoming increasingly close to him as time passed.

Another time Paramartha sighed three times from frus-
tration. Hui-k’ai asked the reason for this, and Paramartha
replied: “You and the others are sincere about the 'T'rue
Dharma and it is fitting that you should assist in its transmis-
sion. Only it grieves me that these are not the times for dis-
seminating the Dharma. My purpose in coming here has been
obstructed.” [Hui-Jk'ai heard this and was saddened. For a
long time he wept. Kneeling before Paramartha he said: *“'The
Great Dharma is cut off from the world, but you have come all
this way to China. The people have no rcsronses [to meet
these times]. Can anything be done to remedy this?”

Paramartha pointed his finger to the northwest and said:
“In that direction there will be a great kingdom, neither too
near nor too far. After we all have died, it [the Dharma) will be
greatly prosperous, but we shall not see its ascendence. This is
why I sighed deeply.”®

These anecdotes illustrate Paramartha’s character and the af-
fection his devoted disciples had for him. His stature as a scholar
made him sought after by politicians and by renowned Chinese
Buddhist monks, who became his disciples. It is his brilliance as a
translator and philosopher that assures his status as one of the
geniuses in Chinese Buddhist history. As the inspiration prefigur-
ing the distinctively Chinese Buddhist schools formulated during
the Sui Dynasty, Paramartha was one of the key figures in con-
structing and systematizing the Buddhist analysis of mind. An
examination of Paramartha's particular interpretation of Yoga-
cara Buddhism and his impact on Sui and T"ang Chinese Bud-
dhism will bring to light his original contributions to the develop-
ment of Chinese Buddhist thought during the subsequent period
of Buddhism’s zenith.”"
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